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HealthNet TPO is a Dutch aid agency 
that works on recovery of 
communities in war torn societies. 
We improve health and wellbeing by 
changing victims into agents of 
change, building on existing 
community resources to create new 
resources, thus help people gain 
health, hope and confidence.

INTRO DUCTORY 
MESSAGE FROM 
THE DIRECTORS

Our mission is to enhance the ability of 
communities in fragile countries to better 
manage and maintain their own health  
and wellbeing.
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HealthNet works through health projects, ranging 
from mother and child health to sexual and 
reproductive health and rights, with a focus on 
mental health from psychiatry to psychosocial 
emergency aid, and contributes to health systems 
development and disease control. Unique elements 
in our approach are the basis in local culture, the 
understanding of the mental effects of poverty, 
exclusion and war, and the way in which we make 
women and girls agents of change. Furthermore, we 
are a knowledge driven organisation, building the 
evidence base through applied academic research  
in projects wherever possible. 

Since 1992 HealthNet implemented some 250 
projects in 35 countries. In 2015 our projects took 
place in Afghanistan, Burundi, Cambodia, DR Congo, 
Lesotho, Nepal and South Sudan.

2015 was a year in which humanitarian needs were 
enormous. In this annual report we try to describe 
how HealthNet fulfilled its mission in bridging the 
gap between emergency relief and a developmental 
perspective for some of the most vulnerable people 
in the world (see the next chapter of this report).  
At the same time the year was critical for the 
organisation itself. 

As reported in the previous years, HealthNet was 
slowly repairing the negative equity that resulted 
from losses in 2011 and 2012. As a result of  
un fortunate investment in necessary new  

ad mini stration software, a steep growth in project 
volume followed by a growth in overhead costs, and 
the lack of any unearmarked funding, the negative 
equity amounted to 2,2 million at the end of 2012. 

Tight management brought positive results in the 
years 2012, 2013 and 2014, and the negative equity 
was brought back with some 200K. At the end of 2014, 
HealthNet still had a negative equity of €2 million. 
Working within a very tight setting against absolutely 
minimal costs in Amsterdam did not combine well 
with setting up a free fundraising capacity. 

HealthNet had however found a way to manage the 
portfolio in fragile states within the boundaries of 
project budgets granted by institutional donors, and 
showed this three years in a row. In terms of efficient 
and effective use of donor funds, we believe we have 
some reason to be proud. 

The Rabobank helped HealthNet bridge liquidity 
gaps, periods of no more than three weeks when 
donors were lagging behind in their payments, and 
costs had to be made to implement the projects. 
When the bank decided to end this arrangement  
in July, HealthNet had only months to find solutions 
for financial sustainability. Then contact was made 
with the Zaluvida Group in Malaysia. The Zaluvida 
Group works in the life sciences sector and  
supports in  novation to make the world a healthier 
place for everyone. The Zaluvida Foundation was 
created with the goal to improve health and 

wellbeing for people among the poorest in the world.

A match was made. We are proud to announce the 
structural and strategic support of Zaluvida for the 
activities of HealthNet. The combination of a passion 
for health and wellbeing for all, based on scientific 
evidence and natural resources, and a solid belief  
in the self-help potential of all people once minimal 
criteria for health and education are met, now 
creates an independent, scientifically rooted, 
financially solid and well-experienced international 
combination. Zaluvida strengthens the financial 
basis of HealthNet, and the partnership  
combines the best elements of NGO experience,  
business-minded efficiency, and academic rigor.

The focus of the work remains on the improvement 
of health and wellbeing of people living in isolation, 
exclusion, poverty and insecurity. Special attention 
is given to the mental health and psychosocial 
challenges in which people need to rebuild their 
lives and communities.

In 2016, the collaboration will be worked out in 
detail. We look forward to operating on the cutting 
edge of change in a world that needs sustainable 
solutions in life sciences and inclusive community 
development. The aim of the Zaluvida and HealthNet 
partnership is to bring new meaning to social 
entrepreneurship.
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On 31 October 2015, Ban Ki-moon, 
Secretary-General of the United 
Nations, and Peter Maurer,   
President of the International 
Committee of the Red Cross (ICRC), 
made a joint statement about the 
impact of conflicts on civilians.  
They made an unprecedented appeal 
for urgent and concrete action to 
address human suffering and 
insecurity. "Rarely before have we 
witnessed so many people on the 
move, so much instability, so much 
suffering," said Mr Maurer.
Combatants in Afghanistan, Burundi, 
Congo, Iraq, South Sudan and many 
more countries are defying 
humanity's most fundamental norms.

2015:  
HUMANITA RIAN 
CRISIS

1

A team of HealthNet's doctors in the Jalalabad 
Public Health Hospital, Afghanistan.
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Sixty million people, the highest figure since the 
Second World War, have been displaced from their 
homes because of conflict and violence. They are  
in need of assistance, and the response of the 
humanitarian world is falling short. Humanitarian 
relief is lacking volume and focus. European national 
governments have not yet found a unanimous 
response and seem caught in short-term 
management of fear. Migration is seen as threat by 
many, populist leaders call for a return to the safety 
of the nation state, and walls are going up again  
in Europe. It is fascinating to see how fear has  
grown since security dominates the agenda of 
international collaboration.

Eradication of poverty, improved health and 
education, equity and such were central themes in 
international collaboration – until the 9/11 attacks. 
That attack on the western world made security the 
dominant theme. Focus was no longer on the poorest 
of people but on the fragility of states. A state is 
defined as fragile when it cannot or will not deliver 
core functions to the majority of its people. Related 
to that delivery problem, and more important for  
the security agenda, is the lack of the fragile state’s 
governmental control over its own territory, and the 
lack of effective international relations with these 
governments of ‘failed states’. The problem with the 
concept is that fragility is dynamic – states move  
in and out of fragility; measures of fragility are 
subjective; and the complex given that there are 

‘pockets of fragility’ in stable states just as there  
are ‘pockets of peace’ in conflict states (DR Congo, 
South Sudan Afghanistan, but also Uganda, Kenya, 
India, Myanmar). This change in the agenda of 
international collaboration is an important basis for 
the crisis in the humanitarian world, that needs to 
reinvent itself.  

As Lord Mark Malloch Brown, former UK government 
minister and chief of the United Nations 
Development Programme (UNDP) suggests, “we have 
come too readily to accept failure in humanitarian 
aid”. He calls for a collective restatement of the 
world’s responsibility to help the victims of conflict 
and disaster, and for a reinvention of the agencies 
which dominate the humanitarian system.  
The World Humanitarian Summit, which will take 
place in Istanbul in 2016, is an opportunity to 
redefine the aid system. The central question is 
about the core values in humanitarian work. Is 
humanitarian relief still impartial, neutral and 
independent? Can it be? Should it be?

HealthNet participated in the preparation for the 
international humanitarian summit through the local 
Dutch version, the ‘Humanitaire Top’ in February 
2015 in The Hague. We advocated for a new view  
on- and commitment to Linking Relief, Rehabilitation 
and Development (LRRD). “LRRD” was the reason 
HealthNet was created 23 years ago. 

In this introduction HealthNet will offer some 
reflection on how its approach to LRRD brings  
some of the questions about the humanitarian 
values to light. 
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HealthNet was and is directly and indirectly involved 
in the refugee crisis. Directly in North Iraq, where 
emergency assistance was given to i.e. Yazidi women. 
Directly in Afghanistan, where HealthNet caters for 
refugees from Pakistan and internally displaced 
along the northern and eastern borders. Directly in 
South Sudan, where people fled warfare in their 
country. And indirectly in all countries where we work 
– where families or even groups of families save 
money to let one of them leave, hoping for a ‘return  
of investment’ in the future, where families are 
separated and those left behind can’t manage on 
their own.  

In Iraq, HealthNet introduced a new approach to 
emergency mental health. After a joint appeal from  
13 Dutch NGOs (the Dutch Relief Alliance - DRA) the 
Dutch government approved a grant in January 2015 
for humanitarian assistance for the internally 
displaced people in North Iraq. HealthNet was able 
 to start a project on psychosocial support for a group 
of people of whom some 35% were Yazidi’s, who fled 
the violence from Sinjar Mountains in August 2014.  
All groups suffered the effects of persecution,  
killing of relatives, human trafficking, forced exile, 
sexual abuse and abduction. Together with the  
local NGO Harikar, the project was implemented  
in two refugee camps close to Dohuk, North Iraq. 

Beside the provision of more traditional mental 
health and psychological support (counselling 
groups, psychosocial first aid, etc.), HealthNet 

1.1  STARTING IN EMERGENCIES

responded to the demands of IDPs and camp 
managers, who were concerned about idleness in the 
camp and the effects of being totally dependent on 
external support. HealthNet introduced its Resource 
Mapping & Mobilization (RMM) approach (see below) 
in the camps. With this approach, people prioritize 
their needs themselves, discover the resources 
available to them and identify new resources needed. 
This results in a social oriented approach that 
prevents medicalization and working around 
unrealistic material demands. 

The essence of RMM is to help people identify and 
prioritize their own problems, increase resilience,  
use existing resources and activate people to work  
on realistic solutions. IDPs in the Iraqi camps were 
engaged in trainings and activities that permitted 
them to gain more autonomy, take their fate in  
their own hands as much as they can, and rebuild 
community ties. They turned out to cope much better 
with (mental) health related complaints, have more 
resilience to face daily challenges, and to actually 
start making business plans.

HealthNet and partner Auxfin, a company with  
which HealthNet is closely collaborating, applied  
a new technology in the camps by building on the 
software applications developed by Auxfin. Groups 
were formed and agents of the local partner provided 
access to digital technology that expanded access  
to both social and financial services to the 20.000 
people living in the camps .  

Ten Community Activation Centers were established 
and equipped with tablets, solar panels and internet 
access. These permitted IDPs to:

•  Access to receive training in Internet, ICT, Computer 
skills and Financial Inclusion 

•  Access to local, regional and international 
communication

•  Access to e-health materials including psychosocial 
relief materials

•  Access to business opportunities and 
•  On a longer term, access to local, regional and 

international financial products

The new aspect of this approach is that it helps 
people become agents of their own fate rather  
than dependent victims. The technology offers  
access to information about relatives, but is also  
used to scan opportunities for education or start 
some income-generating activities. This way, plans 
are developed that stretch beyond the emergency 
situation. This gives people hope and perspective, 
and is in fact an effective factor in longer term 
change. 
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Unfortunately, circumstances forced us to abandon 
our project in North Iraq in September of 2015. In an 
effort to show the government that the collaborating 
humanitarian agencies of the DRA could manage and 
share the available funds among themselves, the 
alliance had set up its own internal rules. Following 
these rules, the DRA concluded HealthNet could no 
longer be a member of the alliance because of its 
financial position. Subsequently, all proposed 
HealthNet activities in the two refugee camps were 
removed from the DRA’s programme as none of the 
other agencies in the alliance would take over. In 
these circumstances we were forced to abandon our 
project and leave the beneficiaries without a proper 
exit-strategy or follow-up in place.

This experience made us think about the 
humanitarian value of ‘independence’. The usual 
explanation is that ‘agencies must formulate and 
implement their own policies independently of 
government policies or actions.’ The problem is often 
defined in terms of confusion in the field between 
humanitarian agencies and the government who may 
be involved in hostilities. HealthNet has experienced 
that particular challenge since the beginning, in 
our government sponsored projects in Afghanistan, 
South Sudan, and many other countries. A strong 
bond with the local population has always been 
enough to counter this confusion, and we were never 
forced to leave any country because it was found too 
dangerous to operate. People in fragile states are no 

1.2  INDEPENDENCE AS A HUMANITARIAN VALUE

RESOURCE MAPPING  
& MOBILIZATION

fools, and openness about funds as separate from 
policies can be discussed and understood. 

It seems that dependence or independence 
nowadays has more to do with the type of 
accountability an agency is willing to accept and 
apply. Is an agency accountable to the population it 
serves, or to its donors? And is accountability to a 
governmental donor different from accountability to 
the public at large, or other funding mechanisms? 
Not all government donors demand total obedience 
in values. Not all parties in a conflict are incapable of 
humanitarian values. It all depends on transparency 
and willingness to account for ones actions. It seems 
that these complex issues are replaced by one type 
of independence only: Financial independence has 
become more and more essential to be a reliable 
partner in humanitarian work.

Resource Mapping & Mobilization (RMM) is an 
approach developed by HealthNet and born out of 
the long and ongoing process of monitoring and 
evaluating existing community-based 
interventions. This means that many of its features 
are the direct product of lessons learnt from 
preceding community based projects. One such 
feature is the emphasis on community 
mobilization rather than assistance. Applied to 
conflict-affected communities, the RMM approach 
has the potential both to address urgent 
community needs and to serve as a catalyst for 
building healthier social, economic and political 
dynamics. The RMM approach supports institution 
building, social integration and participation, 
better functioning of livelihoods, educational and 
(mental) health programs, and participation in 
processes to achieve a stable, democratic society. 
A major problem such as for example Sexual and 
Gender Based Violence (SGBV) can be addressed 
through the RMM approach while i) raising the 
awareness of the population about the 
consequences of SGBV; ii) reinforcing the socio 
economic situation of girls and young to become 
more resilient; iii) organizing discussions with men 
to prevent harmful practice iv)referring women to 
Sexual and Reproductive Health (SRH) and/or 
mental health related services.
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HealthNet has been present in Afghanistan since 
1993, in South Sudan since 1995, in Burundi since 
2000. How long should an NGO stay? How long does  
it take to hand over skills and capabilities so that 
people can actually do what international 
collaboration is supposed to be all about – creating 
equal opportunities and equity? Emergency aid 
should be short-term, is the idea, and development 
collaboration is for the long haul. But this dichotomy 
no longer holds, and this is one of the questions that 
come forward in rethinking the concept of Linking 
Relief, Rehabilitation and Development. As brought 
forward in the debate, “the fundamental issue of 
LRRD is not to find a new category or funding 
mechanism to put in the ‘middle’, but to find a 
different way of thinking about development in 
protracted crises and how to target those most 
vulnerable to falling into crisis.” 

HealthNet was founded with the aim to be an exit 
strategy for emergency relief. That was long ago, 
when the idea was that any crisis was an aberration 
of the normal line of development, and that 
emergency relief should be converted to 
development at the right time only. But crisis has 
become the ‘new normal’. A modern LRRD approach 
is not about linking different kinds of aid, but 
defining a long-term engagement that can deal with 
protracted and recurrent crises as part of normality.

The same goes for the much used concept 
‘resilience’. The reason to develop a specific RMM 

1.3  WORKING THROUGH CRISIS

approach is precisely to have an instrument that is 
flexible and adaptable in order to engage with routine 
unpredictability and crises, and people’s changing 
and diverse needs.

Burundi is one of the countries where periods of 
violence and periods of relative calm succeed each 
other. In 2015, conflict was building up over Burundi’s 
President Pierre Nkurunziza’s contested third term. 
Violence and fear caused more than 200.000 people 
to flee the country. Rumours caused more fear when 
the independent radio stations in the capital 
Bujumbura were shut down in the summer months. 
Over the conflict looms the memory of genocide and 
the abuse that some politicians are willing to make  
of ethnic tensions – whereas an enormous majority 
agrees that ethnicity is not the problem. 

Amidst this crisis HealthNet continued to implement 
a variety of projects in Burundi. One of the important 
outcomes in 2015 exceeds the strict donor-set 
project goals, and can be seen as an example of  
how resilience can be seen in a LRRD approach. 

As a solidarity basis for the interventions in different 
projects, groups of families have been established.  
50 families organise their efforts to participate in a 
variety of projects, not only from HealthNet, but also 
agricultural and educational projects. The groups are 
called the G-50. They meet regularly and exchange 
information. The idea is to build trust in a society that 
has been shattered by violence and ethnic strife.  

And this worked amidst the crisis in Burundi. 

Whereas the G-50 used to come together to discuss 
progress in health programmes or agricultural 
projects, the community mobilizers now brought 
people together to discuss the rumours that were 
flying around. People found a safe place to discuss 
how to react to the businessmen that were coming 
from Bujumbura and tried to convince them of the 
upcoming disaster, how they would be killed and how 
they needed to leave the country – and the best way 
to pay for this was to sell their land. Prices offered 
were very low, but because there was no reliable 
information from the media many families decided 
not to take any risk and leave. The G-50 talked about 
the reliability of these stories, and shared 
information that some had received straight from 
family members in Bujumbura. And through the 1250 
functional G-50, thousands of families decided that it 
was better to stay, to not lose their land, to avoid the 
horror of the refugee settlements across the borders 
that they knew all too well. 

Resilience in this sense is about regaining agency 
over one’s own life. The approach HealthNet is 
developing aims at this local agency, where outcomes 
of a synergetic approach (the G-50 are targets of 
different health, agricultural and governance 
interventions) are more than the sum of different 
project goals.
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After war and decades or 
repression social cohesion 
between people is often 
destroyed. HealthNet TPO works 
with community mobilizers who 
help all people living in the village 
to start a process of reconciliation 
and trust building by creating 
groups of 50 families, G50 we call 
them. The G50 leaders are 
responsible of the wellbeing of 
the people in their group.

Once the G50 and other groups are established and solidarity among its members is created, the 
sustainability of the work is further assured by inviting members to start collective savings towards  
an improvement of their socio economic situation. Inclusive approach: all families are part of a G50.  

All vulnerable, disabled or otherwise challenged people are being supported by the G50. This provides an 
effective strong base to continue working on other projects such as gender based violence, agriculture, 

family planning, saving and loans, etc. 

Each group democratically chooses its representatives for G50.  
These representatives receive basic training in family planning or 
psychosocial topics, pass their knowledge on to their network and 
receive people in need of support.

COMMUNITY BUILDING THROUGH G50

IF MORE HELP IS NEEDED

G50'S ARE CREATED: REPRESENTATIVES ARE CHOSEN

Support groups are created. 
In these groups, people 
share their problems, set 
priorities and together look 
for solutions.

Group / socio therapy is 
available for couples who are 
not able to solve their problems 
within the support groups.

A referral system is set up for 
people with more severe 
problems. The representatives 
of the G50 will be able to refer 
them so they can benefit from 
f.e. individual counseling.
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The focus on migration and refugees in 2015 makes 
one almost forget that the enormous majority of 
people is going nowhere. In Afghanistan, Burundi and 
South Sudan the largest part of the population is still 
in place. Many of them wanted – and may still want 
– to leave, but even fleeing takes resources that 
some do not have. 

HealthNet is one of the implementers for the ‘South 
Sudan Health Pooled Fund’. The objective of this  
fund is to contribute to Health Services Delivery in  
a way that enables long-term sustainability of the 
health systems and to contribute to the transition  
of responsibilities of primary health care service 
delivery to the government. The Health Systems 
Strengthening (HSS) approach compromises  
access, quality and coverage of health services  
and attention for all the building blocks of a health 
system: service delivery, human resources for health, 
health information systems, access to drugs and 
medical products, health financing and governance. 

HealthNet also works on HSS in Afghanistan. In both 
countries, the process of strengthening the health 
system has been ongoing for decades, and in both 
countries the challenge is to deliver minimal quality 
against very low costs (on average less than 5 USD 
per person per year), and security threats that keep 
undermining a sustainable outcome. Over the last 
years a process of standardization, mainly through 

1.4  AIMING FOR DEVELOPMENT 

installation of essential health packages, has taken 
place. The World Bank manages most of the trust 
funds that channel the funds from the international 
community to the national governments. Competitive 
tendering for contracts has become the way to 
access these funds. All is done in close collaboration 
with the government in order to build on or integrate 
existing health system capacity and knowledge 
wherever possible. 

“Sustained improvement of health systems,  
services and outcomes in fragile states requires 
moving beyond the usual short term timeframe of 
humanitarian programming or the normal project 
cycle of donors. HSS is a process of decades, not 
years. One of the biggest obstacles in assisting 
countries to move from fragile to stable, effective 
states that are capable of ensuring health and  
other services is the lack of long-term horizons with 
common end goals among all actors. This requires 
backwards mapping from end goals (10 years +) in 
order to delineate the various benchmarks along  
the way. It is vital to maintain a view towards the  
long horizon, while accepting that the path towards 
sustainable systems and effective governance  
is not smooth or without difficulties. There is a deep 
tendency for all actors (governments, donors, NGOs, 
local civil society, individual citizens) to get caught  
up in short-term and “project thinking” which leaves 
large gaps in the support for longer term goals and 

basic governance elements.” (quote from “Meeting 
the health MDGs post-2015: The case for new 
approaches for support to the health sector in  
Fragile States. Submitted on behalf of the Health  
and Fragile States Network).

Reflecting on the humanitarian value of 
independence and neutrality HealthNet disagrees 
with those humanitarian actors that still insist that 
not working with state institutions is the best way  
to safeguard humanitarian principles in conflict. 
Instead, we agree that “working with state 
institutions does not mean ditching humanitarian 
principles, but taking highly pragmatic, context-
specific decisions on whether working with local 
institutions is in the interests of the most vulnerable’’ 
(Macrae, 2012). 
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PROGRAMMES
Since 1992 HealthNet implemented 
some 250 projects in 35 countries. In 
2015 our projects took place in 
Afghanistan, Burundi, Cambodia, DR 
Congo, Lesotho, Nepal and South 
Sudan. 

We would like to make a special 
mention of the collaborative  
venture, the Dutch Consortium for 
Rehabilitation (DCR), we have been  
a part of for the last five years  
(2011-2015). Together with ZOA, 
CARE, Save the Children we worked 
on rehabilitation of communities  
in fragile states. In 2015 this 
collaboration came to an end. As  
part of the consortium, HealthNet 
implemented healthcare related 
projects in Burundi, DR Congo and 
South Sudan, and was responsible 
for the coordination of the Knowledge 
Network (KN) for DCR as a whole.

2
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WHAT: Public Private Partnership Project

WHERE: Uruzgan and Paktia provinces, 
Afghanistan

WHY: To improve accessibility to quality health 
services, especially to Expanded Program 
on Immunizations (EPI) and  
Basic Reproductive Health services in 
insecure and remote areas

DONOR:                World Health Organization

BUDGET:   This project runs between 01-07-2013 
and 30-04-2016. The total budget is:  
EUR 555.114

WHAT: System Enhancement for Health Action  
in Transition

WHERE: Nangarhar province, Afghanistan

WHY: To improve access, utilization, and quality 
of hospital services in an equitable and 
sustainable manner, especially for 
emergency and routine Reproductive 
Health (RH) and Maternal & Child Health 
(MCH) care services of Nanharhar  
Regional Hospital.

DONOR:                The World Bank/IDA & ARTF

BUDGET:   This project runs between 01-01-2014 and 
31-12-16. The total budget is: EUR 9.154.270

WHAT: Psychosocial interventions for Gulan 
refugee kamp in Khost 

WHERE: Gulan Refugee Camp, Khost province, 
Afghanistan

WHY: To improve the mental health and 
psychosocial status of refugees in the 
Gulan Camp, Khost Province

DONOR:                World Health Organization

BUDGET:   This project ran between 15-11-2014  
and 14-05-2015. The total budget was: 
USD 62.666

AFGHANISTAN

WHAT: Improvement of Environmental Health in 
Jalalabad Public Health Hospital (JPHH) 
and Khogaini District Hospital

WHERE: Nangarhar province, Afghanistan

WHY: Regular evacuation of waste from 
Jalalabad regional hospital, Ghankhail, 
Khama and Khogiani district hospitals  
to improve the health status of the 
population of Nangarhar through the 
enhancement of hygiene and waste 
management

DONOR:               Österreich-Afghanistan Gesellschaft 
(ÖAFG)

BUDGET:   This project ran between 01-03-2015  
an 30-09-2015 . The total budget was  
EUR 10.000.

WHAT: Provision of Life-saving Trauma Services 
in Nangarhar and Paktia hospitals and 
emergency primary health care services 
through two mobile health teams and two 
static health facilities for the refugees of 
North Waziristan settled in four districts 
of Khost province

WHERE: Nangarhar, Paktia and Khost provinces, 
Afghanistan

WHY: To improve access to emergency health 
care services

DONOR: United Nations Office for the Coordination 
of Humanitarian Affairs (OCHA)

BUDGET: This project runs between 13-05-2015  
and 12-05-2016. The total budget is:  
USD 505.693

WHAT: Consultancy Services for Performance-
Based Partnership Agreements (PPAs) to 
Deliver the Essential Package of Hospital 
Services (EPHS) in Paktia Provincial 
Hospital

WHERE: Paktia province, Afghanistan

WHY: To Improve access, utilization, and  
quality of hospital services in an 
equitable and sustainable manner, 
especially for emergency and routine 
Reproductive Health (RH) and Maternal  
& Child Health (MCH) care Services in 
Paktia provincial hospital.

DONOR: World Bank/IDA, ARTF

BUDGET: This project runs between 01-07-2015 
and 30-06-2018. The total budget is:  
EUR 499.488
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WHAT: Provision of life-saving psycho-social 
support and care to affected children and 
women in Ali Abad, Imam Sahib districts 
and city of Kunduz province.

WHERE: Kunduz province, Afghanistan

WHY: To answer the urgent need for mobile 
emergency primary health care services, 
health and hygiene education and 
psychosocial support to the IPDs in  
their settlement areas

DONOR:                United Nations Office for the 
Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs 
(OCHA)

BUDGET:   This project runs between 01-12-2015 
and 30-11-2016. The total budget is:  
USD 316.917

WHAT: Improvement of Environmental Health 
and Renovation of Isolation Ward in 
Jalalabad Regional Hospital.

WHERE: Jalalabad, Nangarhar province, 
Afghanistan

WHY: To improve the environmental health of 
hospital, further strengthen and maintain 
good hygiene, infection prevention and 
waste disposal.

DONOR:                World Health Organization

BUDGET:   This project ran between 06-11-2015 and 
25-11-2015. The total budget was:  
USD 18.254.00 

WHAT: Implementation of health sector 
response to gender based violence

WHERE: Laghman, Khost, Paktya, Farah,  
Badghis, Ghor, Daikondi, Parwan,  
Jawzjan, Faryab, Panjsher and  
Kapisa provinces, Afghanistan

WHY: Strengthening capacities of health  
sector, and law-enforcement bodies for 
the prevention, response and monitoring 
of gender-based violence and child 
marriage in the provinces listed above.

DONOR:                United Nations Population Fund

BUDGET:   This project runs between 15-12-2015 
and 15-12-2016. The total budget is:  
EUR 1.208.296

WHAT: Scaling up Malaria Control & 
Strengthening Health Care System

WHERE: Afghanistan

WHY: To contribute to the improvement of the 
health status in Afghanistan through 
reduction of morbidity and mortality 
associated with malaria

DONOR: Global Fund

BUDGET: This project ran between 01-05-2010 and 
01-06-2015. The total budget was:  
EUR 32.920.082 

WHAT: Midwifery education in Nangarhar

WHERE: Nangarhar province, Afghanistan

WHY: Reduce maternal and infant mortality in 
Afghanistan, further improve the existing 
health system through the strengthening 
and developing human resources

DONOR: Cordaid

BUDGET: This project ran between 01-01-2013 and 
01-03-2015. The total budget was:  
EUR 370.817
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WHAT: Sustainable and equitable health care   

WHERE: Raja and Jur River Counties (Western 
Bahr el Ghazal State), and Aweil North 
county (Northern Bahr el Ghazal State), 
South Sudan

WHY: To improve accessibility, sustainability 
and quality of primary health services.

DONOR:                Health Pooled Fund (multi donor initiative)

BUDGET:   This project runs between 1 July 2013 and 
30 September 2016. The total budget is: 
EUR 7.800.000 

WHAT: South Sudan Health Action and Research 
(SHARP) 

WHERE: Upper Nile State, Northern Bahr el Ghazal 
State and Western Bahr el Ghazal State, 
South Sudan

WHY: To reduce maternal mortality and 
improving quality, accessibility, and 
sustainability of reproductive health care 
services in these provinces.

DONOR:                Dutch Ministry of Foreign Affairs

BUDGET:   This project runs between 1 June 2013 
and 30 June 2016. The total budget is: 
EUR 2.040.000 

WHAT: Nodding Syndrome Study

WHERE: Mundri County, Western Equatoria State, 
South Sudan

WHY: A study into the epidemiology aetiology 
and management of nodding syndrome in 
South Sudan. The findings of the study 
will be critical for health care providers to 
plan and improve treatment and 
preventive programs.

DONOR:                Dutch Ministry of Foreign Affairs

BUDGET:   This project runs between 1 December 
2014 and 31 December 2017. The total 
budget is: EUR 450.000

SOUTH SUDAN

WHAT: Dutch Consortium for Rehabilitation (DCR)

WHERE: Jur River County, Western Bahr el Ghazal 
State in South Sudan

WHY: A multi sector rehabilitation programme to 
contribute to recovery of post-conflict 
societies in South Sudan by rehabilitating 
physical, societal and economic infra-
structure in conflict affected communities 
and assisting civil society actors to 
become stronger stakeholders in the 
creation of a sustainable peace dividend.

DONOR: Dutch Ministry of Foreign Affairs

PARTNER: Dutch Consortium on Rehabilitation: ZOA, 
Save the Children, Care

BUDGET: This project ran between 1 January 2011 
and 31 December 2015. The total budget 
was: EUR 4.200.000 

WHAT: South Sudan Joint Response 

WHERE: Wau and Jur River counties (Western Bahr 
en Ghazal State), Bor county (Jonglei
State), and Aweil North county (Northern 
Bahr en Ghazal State)

WHY: Provide individual and collective 
psychosocial interventions to internally 
displaced people & other vulnerable 
people affected by  
the conflict in South Sudan.

DONOR: Dutch Ministry of Foreign Affairs

BUDGET: This project ran between 1 January 2015 
and 31 December 2015. The total budget 
was: EUR 810.000
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WHAT: Sexual and Reproductive Health  
and Rights

WHERE: Bubanza and Cibitoke provinces, North 
West Burundi

WHY: Support the government to enhance the 
use of family planning services and to 
reduce sexual and gender based violence. 

DONOR:                Dutch Embassy in Bujumbura, Burundi

BUDGET:   This project runs between 1 December 
2012 and 30 November 2016. The total 
budget is: EUR 4.000.000 

WHAT: Dutch Consortium for Rehabilitation (DCR) 

WHERE: Gitega, Makamba and Muyinga in Burundi 

WHY: To contribute to the recovery of  
post-conflict societies in Burundi by 
rehabilitating physical, societal and 
economic infrastructure in conflict-
affected communities and assisting  
civil society actors to become stronger 
stakeholders in the creation of a 
sustainable peace dividend

DONOR:                Dutch Ministry of Foreign Affairs

PARTNERS: Dutch Consortium on Rehabilitation:  
ZOA, Save the Children, Care

BUDGET:   This project ran between 1 January 2011 
and 31 December 2015. The total budget 
is: EUR 6.000.000

BURUNDI

WHAT: Fanning the Spark 

WHERE: Gitega, Muyinga, Makamba provinces, 
Burundi.

WHY: Improvementof living standards  
through improvement of the agriculture 
production, access to payable healthcare 
including micro health and agri insurance 
and other micro finance tools (savings, 
loans and credits)

DONOR:                Dutch Ministry of Foreign Affairs

PARTNERS: ACHMEA Holding, Alterra

BUDGET:   This project runs between 17 May 2013 
and 15 May 2017. The total budget is:  
EUR 1.679.760.

WHAT: Psychosocial resettlement Migrants 

WHERE: Makamba and Rutana Provinces, Burundi

WHY: Providing lifesaving psychosocial support 
and reinforcement of community based 
protection mechanisms targeting expelled 
Burundian migrants from Tanzania

DONOR:                International Organization for Migration 
(IOM)

BUDGET:   This project ran between 15 March 2015 
and 31 December 2015. The total budget 
is: EUR 40.000

WHAT: Financial and social inclusion 

WHERE: Gitega province, Burundi

WHY: Improve socio-economic development, 
through improving access to information, 
promote collective saving, create an 
online banking system, and facilitate 
exchange among network members 

DONOR:                International Fertilizer Development 
Center (IFDC)

PARTNERS: Auxfin

BUDGET:   This project runs between 1 October 2015 
and 31 May 2016. The total budget is:  
EUR 150.000
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WHAT: Maternal and newborn health through 
performance-based financing

WHERE: Lesotho

WHY: Improve the accessibility and quality of 
health services 

DONOR:                World Bank

PARTNERS: Medical Care Development International 
(MCDI)

BUDGET:   This project runs between 21 March 2014 
and 31 December 2017. The total budget 
is: EUR 500.000

LESOTHO 

WHAT: Integrate mental health services in 
primary health care

WHERE: Lubero Health Zone, Butembo District, 
North Kivu Province, DR Congo

WHY: Improve the provision of psychosocial 
and mental health services, as a great 
many people are confronted with 
psychosocial problems and mental  
health disorders

DONOR: Dutch Ministry of Foreign Affairs

PARTNERS: Dutch Consortium on Rehabilitation (ZOA, 
Save the Children, Care)

BUDGET: This project ran between 1 January 2011 
and 31 December 2015. The total budget 
was: EUR 1.750.000

DEMOCRATIC REPUBLIC CONGO 

WHAT: PRIME: Programme for improving mental 
health care in low income countries

WHERE: Chitwan District in South Nepal

WHY: To generate world-class research 
evidence on the implementation and 
scaling up of treatment programmes  
for priority mental disorders in low 
resource settings

DONOR:                UK government’s Department for 
International Development (DFID)

BUDGET:   This project runs between 19-06-2011 
and 31-03-2017. The total budget is:  
EUR 80.000

NEPAL

WHAT: EMERALD: Emerging mental health 
systems in low- and middle-income 
countries

WHERE: Nepal

WHY: To improve mental health outcomes by 
enhancing health system performance

DONOR: European Commission

BUDGET: This project runs between 01-11-2012 and 
31-10-2017. The total budget is:  
EUR 235.000

WHAT: Research on gender and sexually  
based violence

WHERE: Cambodia

WHY: To develop an evidence base regarding 
cultural responsiveness in addressing 
violence in Cambodia

DONOR:                The Australian Research Council

PARTNER: The ‘Angulimala Walks’ research program 
(a collaboration of universities)

BUDGET:   -

CAMBODIA
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Mental disorders are rarely seen as a priority when  
it comes to health in fragile states. However, like 
many other non-communicable or chronic diseases, 
they combine high prevalence with low mortality  
and are characterized by a high degree of ‘disability’. 
Disability related to mental disorders has negative 
effects on productivity and financial consequences 
for the individual and their family. When the context 
is a fragile state, a war-torn society, one does not 
really need high-level epidemiology to understand 
that psychological problems are not only important 
as determinants of health, but also as barriers to 
rebuild both individual and family life, as well as 
rebuilding communities and society as a whole.

Most of HealthNet’s programmes address mental 
health as well as psychosocial problems in a 
combined approach, although there is a difference  
to be made between the two. Mental health 
programmes usually focus on decentralisation of 
psychiatric services from specialized hospitals  
into integration in primary health care, linked with 
awareness building in the community. Psychosocial 
issues are often related to the consequences of  
years of violence which are felt in almost all domains 
of people’s lives: poverty, insecurity, strained family 
relations, poor education and poor health. 
Psychosocial problems may lead to the expression  
of mental disorders, such as depression and anxiety 
disorders. Reduction of psychosocial problems and 
stressors is therefore a focus in our programmes,  
to prevent the expression of mental disorders.  

2.1  MENTAL HEALTH – WITH A PROJECT EXAMPLE FROM SOUTH SUDAN

HealthNet builds knowledge in health systems on 
mental health, working with governments, local 
health authorities and local health providers.  
The programmes seek to raise awareness on the 
necessity of integrating mental health treatments 
into primary health care. HealthNet supports 
governments in implementing their mental health 
policies in health systems approaches.

In South Sudan we provide individual 
and collective psychosocial 
interventions to internally displaced 
people as well as other vulnerable 
people affected by the conflict.
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In 2015 HealthNet was implementing two separate 
projects related to Mental Health and Psychosocial 
Support (MHPSS). One project was part of the Dutch 
Consortium of Rehabilitation (DCR), mentioned in the 
above overview. The second project is the one 
discussed here.

Key elements of the project
•  Being present in locations where people have  

fled conflict, and are facing mental health and 
psychosocial issues but have little access to support

•  Strengthening health systems and building 
capacity of local people in order to be able to 
respond to future emergencies. 

•  Improving the quality, and increasing the 
sustainability of the mental health and 
psychosocial support available in South Sudan

 

Activities and Results
•  Gender Sensitive Community Mapping, awareness 

raising and immediate psychosocial support: 2294 
people reached through psycho education on 
prevention and consequences of gender based 
violence. Brainstorm meetings held in 24 
communities;

•  3 community based centres established in 3 
different counties to provide continuum of care, 
including community based psychosocial support 
(CBPSS) to 1185 distressed and vulnerable 
individuals in the target communities and 7 health 
workers were trained on Psychosocial Support;

•  Psychosocial well-being of children and gender 
based violence survivors promoted through 
community based support. 3365 people reached 
with psychoeducation sessions. 70 people reached 
through trainings (e.g. CHD staff, health workers, 
teachers, church leaders, South Sudanese Joint 
Response and partner staff). 400.000 of people 

reached (indirectly) through radio programming;
•  537 children reunified and/or received alternative 

care, including temporary learning spaces. 
Protection of children, adolescents and other 
vulnerable groups affected by crisis enhanced (incl. 
children associated with armed forces and armed 
groups) with an emphasis on identification of 
separated, unaccompanied or missing children and 
family tracing, reunification and/or alternative care, 
as access permits;

•  Setting up a service point based on baseline 
assessments to provide PFA and support groups.

WHAT: South Sudan Joint Response

WHERE: Wau and Jur River counties (Western Bahr en Ghazal State), Bor county (Jonglei
State), and Aweil North county (Northern Bahr en Ghazal State)

WHY: Provide individual and collective psychosocial interventions to internally displaced people &  
other vulnerable people affected by the conflict in South Sudan.

DONOR:                Dutch Ministry of Foreign Affairs

BUDGET:   This project ran between 1 January 2015 and 31 December 2015. The total budget was: EUR 810.000

PROJECT EXAMPLE
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In 2015, HealthNet has rendered its services to 
people of 29 provinces (Nangarhar, Kunar, Khost, 
Paktia, Parwan, Herat, Balkh, Kunduz, Kabul, 
Panjsher, Uruzgan, Ghazni, Logar, Daikundi, 
Badakhshan, Jowzjan, Samangan, Wardak,  
Nuristan, Zabul, Bamyan, Paktika, Takhar,  
Baghlan, Faryab, Saripul, Kandahar, Helmand  
and Laghman provinces). 
 
Hospital management
HealthNet was one of the first organizations to 
implement the Extended Public Health Services 
(EPHS - secondary level health care, hospitals) in 
Nangarhar regional hospital. Gradually, other 
departments of the hospital such as surgery, 
orthopaedic and diagnostic services were integrated 
in EPHS as well. The programme now runs services 
through 9 hospitals, which include 1 Regional 
Hospital, 2 Provincial Hospitals, and 5 District 
Hospitals (Ghanikhail DH, Khogiani DH, Kama DHs  
in Nangarhar while Jaji Aryob and Chamkani DHs in 
Paktia province). 

The Nangarhar regional hospital is a postgraduate 
hospital providing round the clock high-quality 
tertiary health care not only for the population of  
the four eastern provinces of the country but also 
emergency care for the large number of victims  
from traffic accidents on the main highway. The 
Nangarhar regional hospital, Khost provincial 
hospital and Gardez provincial hospitals are complex 
institutes where a range of services are provided in 

2.2  HEALTH SYSTEMS STRENGTHENING – AFGHANISTAN

order to meet different Ministry of Public Health 
policies. Through the ‘Ikmal-e-Takhasus’ program 
(Post Graduation Education Program) in Khost and 
Nangarhar, the newly graduated students from 
medical faculties are trained in certain specialties, 
as per Ministry of Public Health/Post Graduate 
Medical Education program curricula. In addition  
to this, the training of graduate and paramedical 
students is also carried out in all three hospitals. 

Maternal Health
The health of the mother plays an important role  
in the death of the neonatal. According to a recent 
mortality survey in Afghanistan, 327 women die  
per 100.000 live births due to child birth or 
complications of pregnancy. Additionally, babies 
whose mothers have died during child birth have 
much greater chance of dying in their first year than 
those whose mothers remain alive.  

HealthNet coverage in Afghanistan in 2015
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All pregnant women are at risk and can develop 
complications at any time during pregnancy, delivery 
and after delivery (UNICEF/ HQ99-0816/Le Moyne). 

Improving access for visits during pregnancy, 
improved management of normal delivery by skilled 
attendants, access to emergency obstetric and care 
for new-born babies when needed and timely after 
delivery care for both mothers and new-borns all 
help in reducing maternal and child mortality.  
The community also plays a very important role  
in the welfare of maternal health. HealthNet, 
through its established health shuras and 
community health workers in the health facilities, 
inform the community on the need of visits during 
pregnancy, the immunization of the mothers against 
tetanus and visits to the doctor after delivery for 
mothers and babies. 

A great example of our work that combines both 
these goals (reduce maternal and infant mortality in 
Afghanistan while further strengthening the health 
system) is the Community Midwifery Education 
Project in Nangarhar Province. This project ran 
between 2013 and 2015, and all 24 participating 
students have successfully completed their 24 
months theoretical and practical training. These 
graduated midwives are now busy providing 
reproductive health services, filling the existing  
gaps of vacant community midwife positions in 
remote health facilities and they will contribute  
in decreasing maternal and child mortality.

HealthNet TPO Donors in Afghanistan
HeathNet TPO's programs in 2015 were made possible with the continuous support of our 
many donors, with whom we have been working for many years now. The pie chart below 
indicates the contribution of donors in 2015 as per budget size.

14.79% The Global Fund

30.08% USAID

9.03% WHO

9.06% UNOCHA

5.31% WFP

0.61% Cordaid

0.22% BRAC-SR

30.9% MoPH
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2.3  SEXUAL AND REPRODUCTIVE HEALTH AND RIGHTS –  
WITH A PROJECT EXAMPLE FROM BURUNDI

Women and girls carry the burden of violence and 
poverty most. Violations of Sexual and Reproductive 
Health and Rights (SRHR) can be found anywhere, 
but in ‘low income countries under stress’ (as fragile 
states where once called) women and girls face 
increased risk. Therefore, actors such as the WHO, 
governments, researchers, and NGOs are highly 
devoted to this topic. According to the UN, “sexual 
and reproductive health is a state of complete 
physical, mental and social well-being in all matters 
relating to the reproductive system”. This implies 
that all should be able to have a satisfying and safe 
sex life, the capability to reproduce, and the freedom 
to decide if, when, and how often to do so. This 
comprehensive definition includes the main topics 
of maternal & child health, gender-based violence, 
and HIV/AIDS and other sexual transmitted diseases. 
Especially in fragile states, girls and women are 
subject to high levels of violence including family 
violence, physical, sexual and emotional abuse, all of 
which affect both their mental and physical health 
status negatively. Despite these insights, mental 
health remains, in many countries, at best, a 
marginal concern.

The interaction between physical and mental health 
is known to be powerful and complex, as mental 
health issues related to sexuality, childbirth, and 
physical and sexual violence can influence Sexual 
and Reproductive Health outcomes. HealthNet 
therefore aims to provide holistic SRHR 
interventions based on a strong track record.
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Burundi has a turbulent history and remains one of 
the ten poorest countries in the world: 68% of the 
population lives on less than one dollar a day and life 
expectancy does not exceed 49 years. With external 
aid and support and despite the country’s incidents, 
Burundian people and institutions have been working 
on rebuilding the country for a long time. Long term 
stability and socio-economic recovery are seriously 
threatened by a high population growth. Over half 
(56%) of the population is younger than 20 years. If 
the present growth of 3% per annum continues, the 
population will double in only 25 years. In addition, 
violations of SRHR are widespread. The need for an 
effective family planning policy and a reduction of 
sexual and gender based violence is high.

Key elements of the project
We (re)build or strengthen existing social structures 
instead of replacing them with external initiatives. 
This is done by:
a)  Implementing a Community Resource Mapping and 

Mobilization (RMM) approach. An example are 
‘change agents’: community members that identify 
problems themselves, come up with possible 
solutions to these problems and point these 
solutions out to people (in this case the available 
SRHR services);

b)  At the same time organizing specific activities: 
such as sexual education and education on family 
planning, but also about sexual violence and other 
SRHR issues;

c)  Providing direct health services related to family 
planning and sexual and reproductive care. While 
lobbying for, and increasing, the capacity of 
government to improve community security at large 
and the SRHR policy.

Activities and Results
•  867 people received 15 sessions of social therapy 

including 428 men and 439 women;
•  160,127 community members including 61,540 men 

and 98,587 women were sensitized / mobilized by 
members of hill networks on the theme of family 
planning;

•  5897 adults including 2822 men and 3075 women 
participated in the meetings of discussion groups 
focusing on issues related to family planning;

•  30 providers of care, including 17 men and 13 women 
were trained on new contraceptive technologies 
(installation and removal of the implants and IUDs)

•  3,888 youth whose 1941 boys and 1947 girls 
benefited from the focus group sessions (discussion 
group) on the theme related to sexual and 
reproductive health for young people and teenagers;

•  540 peer educators trained in school on the theme of 
sexual and reproductive health for young people and 
adolescents and the Sexual Violence / GBV including 
273 boys and 267 girls;

•  1,460 student girls and boys were educated on the 
fight against SV / Gender Based Violence, unwanted 
pregnancies in schools and early marriages in  
6 schools;

•  76,021 young girls were sensitized/ mobilized around 
the theme of sexual and reproductive health;

•  113,372 people were affected by the sensitization / 
mobilization around the theme on prevention and the 
fight against sexual violence and those based on 
gender, including 43,252 men and 70 120 women;

•  308 brave (''Intwari'') including 154 men and 154 
women were trained in basic community care for 
survivors of sexual violence and gender-based 
violence.

WHAT: Support the Government's efforts to enhance the 
use of family planning services and to reduce 
sexual and gender based violence.

WHERE: Noord-West Burundi, provincies Bubanza  
en Cibitoke

WHY: To reduce the excessive growth of the population 
and address the widespread violations of SRHR

DONOR:                Dutch Embassy in Bujumbura, Burundi

BUDGET 
2015:   €1.238.620

PROJECT EXAMPLE
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RESEARCH 

HealthNet is a unique NGO, in the 
sense that its programs in post-
conflict countries are often linked 
with research activities. This is t 
rue for the mental health and 
psychosocial programs in different 
countries, but also for the malaria 
and cutaneous leishmaniasis 
programs in Afghanistan. 

3

Burundese women at a session about family 
planning and sexual and reproductive care.
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Research serves different purposes for our 
organization: in the first place research helps to 
describe and/or to measure the magnitude of a 
problem that affects the health and wellbeing of 
people living in post-conflict countries. Secondly, 
research is used to test the effectiveness of new 
interventions in the context of post-conflict 
countries. This was for instance done in the Child 
Thematic Project (2004-2008) in five countries facing 
political violence, where preventive and curative 
components to provide psychosocial care for children 
were tested in field circumstances. Also, HealthNet 
has tested new malaria control interventions 
(impregnated bed nets and new malaria treatment 
regimens) in Afghanistan.

Thirdly, research helps us to evaluate the 
effectiveness of existing programs. That touches 
upon the need for an evidence base to understand 
what works and what does not: the paradox of ‘doing 
good’.1 On the one hand, there are many organizations 
that aim to tackle social problems. On the other 
hand, despite evidence of numerous cost-effective 
solutions to some persistent social problems,  

few organizations seem to base their choices on this 
existing evidence. Moreover, research indicates that 
most organizations fail to evaluate the effectiveness 
of the interventions they do implement, and thus do 
not base and improve their strategies on the basis of 
effectiveness data. As a result, the good that these 
organizations do does not seem to be good enough.

We present three examples of how we try to be  
‘good enough’.

1 Liket, K. (2014, April 11). Why ‘Doing Good’ is not  

Good Enough: Essays on Social Impact Measurement  

(No. EPS-2014-307- STR). ERIM Ph.D. Series Research  

in Management. Erasmus University Rotterdam.  

Retrieved from http://hdl.handle.net/1765/51130
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3.1 BRIDGING THE MENTAL HEALTH GAP IN NEPAL 

HealthNet participates in international research 
consortia in mental health. Among these are

1. PRIME, a six-year multi-national research project 
funded by DFID (Department for International 
Development) UK to consortium partners in five 
countries (South Africa, Uganda, Ethiopia, India and 
Nepal). The overall aim of PRIME is to generate 
evidence on the implementation and scaling up of 
treatment programs for priority mental disorders in 
primary and maternal health care contexts in low 
resource settings which can be widely adopted by 
policy makers and practitioners.

2. Emerging Mental Health Systems in Low- and 
Middle-Income Countries (Emerald). Emerald is a  
five year multinational health system research 
project lead by King’s College London and funded  
by the European Commission. The project is being 
implemented in six countries namely Ethiopia, India, 
Nigeria, Nepal, South Africa and Uganda. The main 
objective of the project is to improve mental health 
outcomes by enhancing the national health system 
performance. The project aims to identify key health 
system barriers as well as solutions for the large 
scale delivery of mental health services in low- and 
middle-income countries (LMICs) thus improving 
mental health outcomes in a fair and efficient way.

3. Developing and Evaluating Family and School 
Based Intervention for Children with Behavioural 
Problems in Rural Nepal (SHARE – concluded in 
December 2015). This research project is funded  
by the South Asian Hub for Advocacy, Research  
and Education (SHARE) in collaboration with  
John Hopkins University. Its objective is to develop 
and evaluate a family-based intervention for  
children with behavioural problems in Nepal.  
After assessment and ethnographic analysis to 
identify perceptions of children, family members  
and teachers on child behaviour problems in a rural 
Nepali community, family based interventions were 
developed. After development and assessment of 
construct validity and psychometric properties of  
a novel diagnostic tool for disruptive behaviour 
disorders, the impact of family and school based 
intervention is now evaluated.

Application 
In 2014 HealthNet developed and started 
implementation of a comprehensive mental health 
care plan to integrate mental health into primary 
health in Nepal. Within the program there is a strong 
emphasis on capacity building and the translation  
of research findings into policy and practice, with a 
view to reducing inequities and meeting the needs  
of vulnerable populations, particularly women and 
people living in poverty. Furthermore, we developed 
and evaluated a tool to promote access to mental 
health care.  

The earthquakes that shook Nepal in April and  
May 2015 made the TPO-Nepal team 
implement their research work immediately.  
In Nepal there is an extensive team of 
psychosocial counsellors and workers, with 
experience in emergency relief. The team is 
frequently being consulted for national and 
international research and training programs. 
TPO Nepal has ongoing programs, staff or 
partner organizations in approximately half of 
Nepal’s districts. 

Immediately after the earthquake local well  
trained counsellors were active in 7 out of 14 
affected districts. Psychological first aid,  
general health services and support through 
the dissemination of psychosocial messages 
through direct phone-in media programs and 
interviews on radio and television were 
provided. This was done in collaboration with 
the colleagues of the PRIME and the Emerald 
network. 
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3.2 SOCIOTHERAPY IN BURUNDI

Since 2013, Sociotherapy has become one of the key 
interventions in the large scale, multi-layered SRHR 
program in Burundi, funded by the Dutch Embassy. 
This community program is implemented in more 
than 400 collines of the 3 Provinces (Bujumbura 
rurale, Bubanza, Cibitoke) and is focused on: i) family 
planning, ii) the use of sexual and reproductive health 
(SRH) services by youth and adolescents and iii) a 
comprehensive support/care system for survivors of 
SRHR violations.

Earlier research on and our experiences with 
sociotherapy since its introduction in 2008 have 
convinced us that sociotherapy should be an 
essential element of comprehensive health-related 
community oriented interventions, such as the SRHR 
program in Burundi. Sociotherapy is developed as a 
communal group intervention to increase the 
capacity of vulnerable people to protect themselves 
against - in this case SRHR related - social, 
communal and environmental demands that exceed 
their individual resources and capabilities and as a 
consequence endanger their overall quality of life 
and that of others. 

In 2015 we implemented based on experiences and 
findings from a large pilot study, a second study to 
evaluate the effects of sociotherapy in a convenience 
community sample from the 3 provinces mentioned 
earlier. The primary hypotheses of the evaluation 
study were that participation in the sociotherapy 
would lead to 1) a decrease of the level of general 

health complaints, 2) an increase of the level  
of subjective wellbeing, 3) an increase of the  
capacity to deal with social and communal  
stressors and demands and 4) an increase of 
inclusion, participation and beneficial interactions  
in the community. 

The study was implemented as a naturalistic 
community trail in 15 collines/villages and compared 
the effect of sociotherapy on a group community 
members (N=225) that participated in 15 subsequent 
sociotherapy sessions with a control group (N=210). 
Respondents were randomly selected among those 
that were interested to participate in sociotherapy 
after an open information manifestation that explain 
the objectives of the intervention. Respondents were 
also randomly assign to an intervention condition 
and waitlist condition. The findings of this study refer 
to statistically significant longitudinal change of all 
scores of the study outcomes. This means that 
compared to a group community members that did 
not receive any intervention (during the time period 
of the study) the participants of sociotherapy 
reported 1) an improved physical health condition,  
2) an increase of their experienced wellbeing, 3) an 
increase of their capacity to deal with social and 
communal stressors and demands and 4) an increase 
of their inclusion in the community and level of 
participation, in addition to an increase of beneficial 
interactions in the community. 
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An important outcome of social 
inclusion and the formation of 
groups is the restored respect  
for both men and women.

The findings of this study on the effect of 
sociotherapy on the general health condition and 
subjective wellbeing were compared with the 
findings of an earlier study on the effects of 
community outreach psychosocial and mental health 
services provided by HealthNet Burundi. The effect 
sizes of the assessed beneficial change on the 
general health condition and subjective wellbeing 
were comparable. That is an important given to 
underpin the value of community approach in ‘social 
work’ to achieve tangible health outcomes on the 
individual level. 

Although we realize that this comparison of effect 
sizes of both studies should be interpreted with 
consideration (respondents of the earlier study 
sought help for a psychosocial or mental health 
problem whereas the respondents of the study on 
sociotherapy were individuals included in a 
community approach), the health effects of social 
interventions has been showed.
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showed that the mean insecticide concentration in 
the LLINs after three years of usage was only 15.6% 
of the insecticide concentration in a new bed net. 

Altogether we can conclude that the majority of the 
LLINs distributed three years earlier are still in place, 
are in a reasonable condition and are well used. 
However, their insecticide content (and thus their 
ability to kill mosquitoes) drastically decreased in 
these three years. In the coming years millions of 
LLINs need to be replaced in Afghanistan. Our study 
provides useful information for policy makers in the 
country about the choice of new LLINs and about the 
best timing of these replacement campaigns. Next to 
that, our study results are useful for HealthNet 
malaria staff, to evaluate how effective their LLIN 
distribution campaigns and their accompanying 
Health Education campaigns have been and where 
further information is needed. For example, this 
study implies that more attention needs to be given 
to proper LLIN washing practices and to alternative 
channels for households to get extra LLINs in 
between LLIN distribution campaigns.

underwent tests in the laboratory, measuring if the 
nets were still able to kill mosquitoes. As the last 
step, 40 of the LLINs were sent to a laboratory in 
India, where their insecticidal content was measured.

Our study found that a high proportion, 87.8%, of  
the 1186 LLINs that were distributed 3 years earlier 
in the randomly selected households were still in 
place (4.8% of the LLINs was thrown away after they 
were too much damaged, while 6.9% of the LLINs 
was used at another location, mostly because they 
were given away to others). Worryingly, 19.6% of the 
households had too few LLINs for all the household 
members to sleep under, mostly because of an 
increase of household members in the meantime. 
Another point of worry is that, after washing, 52.9% 
of the LLINs were dried in the sun, which can have a 
negative impact on the insecticide content in the 
nets. A positive outcome was that the great majority 
(96.2%) of the LLINs was used every night during the 
hot season (i.e. the malaria season) to sleep under.

Looking at the number of holes and other damages  
of the LLINs, we can conclude that 65% of the nets 
are still in a good condition, while 32% are in an 
acceptable condition. Only 3% of the LLINs were ‘too 
torn’ to offer effective protection against mosquitoes. 
Contrarily, in the mosquito tests the sample of LLINs 
did not meet the minimum standards for insecticidal 
activity (i.e. the ability of a bed net to kill 
mosquitoes). Also, the tests in the external laboratory 

In 2015 HealthNet completed a study in Afghanistan 
that focused on Long-lasting Insecticide-treated 
Nets (LLINs): bed nets treated with an insecticide 
that renders long-term protection against malaria  
for people sleeping under the net. Between 2007  
and 2014 more than 9 million LLINs were distributed 
in malaria endemic provinces in Afghanistan and 
many of those LLINS were distributed through 
HealthNet-run malaria programs. However, there  
is limited information about the actual usage and  
life span of these LLINs in field conditions, both 
internationally and in Afghanistan. HealthNet thus 
conducted the first study in Afghanistan in which  
the durability and insecticidal activity of LLINs were 
systematically examined, after three-year usage in 
Afghan households.

For this purpose our research team visited five 
malaria endemic provinces across the country 
(Nangarhar, Khost, Hirat, Balkh and Kunduz). In each 
province 100 households that had received LLINs 
three years earlier were randomly selected for this 
study. The household owner was then interviewed 
about LLIN survivorship (the number of LLINs still 
present after three years), use of these LLINs and  
the way these LLINs were maintained. Consequently, 
from each household one LLIN was randomly 
selected and then transported to the entomology 
laboratory that HealthNet runs in Jalalabad. Here the 
500 LLINs were rigorously inspected for holes and 
other damages. After that, 200 of the 500 LLINs 

3.3  MALARIA RESEARCH IN AFGHANISTAN
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COMMUNI
CATION &  
FUND
RAISING 

4

Our Community Midwife Education program  
in Ghanikhel, Afghanistan was voted FIRST in 
the country. The program scored an impressive 
99% in the assessment carried out by the 
national accreditation board.

HealthNet is funded by institutional 
donors, private donors, and third  
party campaigns. 98% of the project 
turnover originates from institutional 
donors. In 2015 we continued 
mcommunication efforts to increase 
brand awareness, aiming at increased 
corporate and private donations  
as well as philanthropy. Following 
previous years, attention for the 
organization continued to grow.  
In 2014 the focus of communication  
was shifted from quantity to quality  
of communication, we have kept  
this focus throughout 2015.
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The website is one of the tools for which we consider the 
shift successful. The bounce rate has further diminished, 
visitors stay on the website longer and visit more pages  
per visit. Again we made use of special NGO contracts that 
enabled us to regularly present ourselves in various Dutch 
newspapers at a low cost. We put more effort in our social 
media presence which resulted in a significant increase of 
followers, shares and likes. We also received ‘free’ airtime on 
outdoor media outlets in Amsterdam and alongside one of the 
main highways in The Netherlands. HealthNet also had a free 
narrowcasting tv-campaign in Dutch hospital waiting rooms. 
These campaigns ran for several months. For the third time 
we participated in the ‘Dam tot Damloop’, which has enabled 
us to expand our network, raise funds and highlight the 
importance of our work. For this event we received ‘free’ 
airtime on the regional radio station.

Main goal for 2015 was to close the gap of the negative 
equity. HealthNet succeeded in this mission in the last quarter 
of 2015. This result will give HealthNet the opportunity to 
start fundraising ‘on a clean sheet’ and continue to build our 
brand awareness. In 2016 focus will be given to capitalizing 
on brand awareness while refining the brand positioning for 
marketing and communication purposes, and proactively 
approach existing and new corporate networks.

31



5

HealthNet’s aim in South Sudan is to provide 
mental health- and psychosocial support to 
vulnerable people who have been affected  
by the conflict that broke out in 2013.

ORGANI
ZATIONAL 
STRUCTURES 
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external CCP for another NGO that is active in the 
same sector as HealthNet. The collaboration with 
Ms. Littooij continued in 2015.

Effectiveness and efficiency of spending 
By taking control of implementation, HealthNet 
ensures its programmes are well-executed in 
collaboration with a locally recruited team that 
eventually becomes independent. In accordance
with requirements of the various donors, monitoring 
and evaluation of the effectiveness and efficiency 
take place following the specific requirements  
and procedures. The results are then reported 
periodically. Often external audits are performed  
to verify the efficiency of spending or projects are 
evaluated as part of donor’s self-evaluations. As the 
added value of HealthNet includes the development 
of new intervention models, the information from 
monitoring and evaluation is also used to improve 
other (future) projects and/or to support research 
projects. Results of research projects are published 
in leading international academic journals so that 
they are available to other NGOs, governments and 
research centers. Apart from reporting to donors,  
the directors of HealthNet report to the supervisory 
board on a monthly basis, with intensive contacts in 
between. The supervisory board monitors both the 
internal and external expenditures of the 
organization and the development of non-earmarked 
funds. More detailed information can be found in the 
financial statements included in this annual report.

supervisory board. Their full-time contracts are for 
an indefinite period based on a 40-hour working 
week. HealthNet does not operate the practice of 
offering (end-of-year) bonuses or gratuities. Costs 
are refunded on an expense-claim basis and fixed 
cost allowance. See the financial statements for the 
remuneration of the directors.

Volunteers and Interns
Occasionally HealthNet had volunteers/internship 
opportunities at its head office or in the field. This 
past year we actively sought more opportunities for 
volunteers to provide support and be involved in our 
work. This included specific projects and support 
activities. In 2015 we had five interns and fifteen 
volunteers. HealthNet also uses the volunteer 
services of Translators Without Borders. 

HealthNet would like to take this opportunity to 
thank all of our volunteers and interns for their 
valuable contribution! 

Confidential Contact Person 
A confidential contact person (CCP) provides 
confidential advice to employees to help solve
perceived problems, conflicts or (suspected)  
abuse. Mrs. Elsbeth Littooij has been our external
confidential contact person since 2012. For more 
than ten years Mrs. Littooij has been working as a 
spiritual and personal counsellor, confidential 
contact person and researcher at a rehabilitation 
centre in Amsterdam. In addition she works as an 

Supervisory Board
HealthNet follows the Dutch ‘Code Wijffels’ for its 
organization of administration, management and 
supervision. The directors - monitored and regulated 
by the supervisory board - are responsible for 
organization-wide policy implementation and daily 
management. The tasks, responsibilities and 
authorizations of the supervisory board and 
directors are described in the HealthNet articles of 
association and in the Management Charter. The 
supervisory board of HealthNet has the task of 
supervising the activities of the directors and the 
state of affairs within the organization. The various 
requirements of running an organization such as 
HealthNet are represented in the supervisory board. 
The members have to be experienced in (public) 
health, management, finance, fundraising, human 
resource or communication. Supervisory board 
members are appointed for a period of four years 
(with possible renewal), resign according to a 
schedule determined by the supervisory board and 
receive no remuneration. An Audit Committee is 
established that operates under an Audit Charter.

Directors
The two directors manage and represent the 
organization: externally as spokespersons and
internally as employers. The directors have overall 
management responsibility and have the authority 
to decide and act within the framework set by the 
articles of association, the Management Charter, 
annual plans, budgets and authorities granted by the 
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Dealing with stakeholders
HealthNet strives for optimal relations with its 
stakeholders through a clear and accessible output 
of information and the opportunity to reach us with 
questions, suggestions or complaints. Our website, 
social media channels and newsletters are good 
examples of the ways in which we communicate with 
our stakeholders. Stakeholders of HealthNet are, 
e.g., guests, volunteers, donors, staff, sponsors, 
partners, (local) governments. Over the course of 
2015, within the framework of corporate fundraising, 
we pro-actively approached several large corporate 
organisations, equity funds, foundations, family 
offices, philanthropic organizations and lotteries 
with the aim of building beneficial relationships. We 
aim at continuing these efforts with regards to this 
specific network of stakeholders in 2016.  

Ideas, comments, suggestions and complaints are 
collected via our online channels or info@hntpo.org 
and then allocated to the responsible departments 
or persons. HealthNet values transparency highly 
and with examples of our projects we aim to offer a 
clear picture of what we do and how we do it. And 
thus a clear picture of how we spend our funding. In 
this annual report you will find detailed accounts of 
our work throughout 2015. HealthNet believes that it 
has a duty to be as transparent as possible to all its 
stakeholders about the efficiency and effectiveness 
of its activities.

In the first ten months the supervisory board 
met frequently, mostly with the directors, to 
discuss operations but notably the worsening 
liquidity position of the organisation. For more 
than four years HealthNet succeeded in 
continuing its operations despite a substantial 
negative equity. As a consequence of a shift 
away by donors from pre-funding and a 
shrinking portfolio as a result of hesitation  
with donors caused by our negative equity the 
continuity of our operations was seriously 
jeopardized. Cash calls to fellow NGO’s and 
other mostly Dutch foundations were received 
with sympathy by these parties, but did not 
materialize in what was needed. In October the 
Zaluvida Foundation expressed its willingness 
to support the continuity of the operations of 
HealthNet by a cash injection exceeding € 2 
million, if the board of HealthNet was willing  
to accept a certain, but not decisive, influence  
of Zaluvida in the composition of the board. 
This offer was accepted un animously by the  
old board. Mostly in relation here with we  
said goodbye in November to our former  
chair Britta Gielen and to our board members  
Froukje Santing and Charlotte Wout. 
We want to express our gratitude for the 
support given to HealthNet by these board 
members, notably to Britta who has guided 
HealthNet through stormy waters for  
many years! 

Carin Beumer joined the board as of that month 
as chair. Earlier in the year Ellen Dodewaard 
joined the board. In December the board 
appointed Kay De Gier-Formanek as vice-chair. 
Lex Winkler, Koos van der Velden and  
Jaap Gelderloos retained their seats. The new 
board met monthly since its inception. Since 
HealthNet is no longer in the survival mode,  
we now take the opportunity to reconsider our 
future strategy, a process in cooperation with 
the directors, who have to execute that 
strategy. We expect finalisation Summer 2016, 
thereafter multi-year plans will be prepared. 

The Audit Committee met three times,  
twice with the external auditor, all times with 
the directors, the controller and two board 
members. Special attention was given to the 
reporting of the Afghanistan office. In 2016 the 
Audit Committee will perform the periodic 
review of all existing procedures and reportings.

The board wants to thank all employees, in 
Amsterdam and the field, and the directors for 
the resilience evidenced in the difficult year 
2015. Thank you!

The Board

Amsterdam, May 2016 

THE BOARD IN 2015  
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The result 2015 was extremely 
positive due to a financial injection  
by the Zaluvida foundation. But even 
without  this one-time gift also the 
result from regular activities was 
positive, be it lower than budgeted. 
Because several projects ended in 
the course of 2015 and new ones did 
not start up as expected  the turnover 
was less than budgeted. Also the 
income from free funding 
underperformed the budget.

6
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The operational result was exceptional  positive in 
the past year and for 2016 we again expect a positive 
result of €144,579. Due to the result of 2015 the 
reserves are positive again. But these reserves may 
not  be enough to cover the need for temporary 
additional liquidity for pre-financing all the projects 
that we could start. HealthNet is investigating 
possibilities with finance institutions to bridge 
possible gaps in liquidity.  As long as a new credit 
facility is not operational  HealthNet has to be 
careful about starting projects that require pre-
financing. This condition is part of the 2016 financial 
strategy and planned operations are secured. Now 
that the reserves are positive again HealthNet is in a 
better position in its relation with potential private 
donors and the developments are promising.  
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The year 2015 ended with a positive result of € 2,2 mln. 
This exceptionally high result is caused by high income 
from donations. In the year 2015 HealthNet received 
support from a third party. This party donated €2 mln 
in 2015, and support for 2016 is also agreed upon.  
But besides donations, the result from our normal 
activities is positive as well. Strict cost control and 
one-off post project results contributed to this  
positive result.

(In euros) Note Actual 2015 Budget 2015 Actual 2014

Expenditure on objectives

Reconstruction and Development 4  17,312,364  20,648,475  19,557,043 

Awareness Raising and Public Information 5  181,725  195,500  187,659 

 17,494,088  20,843,975  19,744,702 

Expenditure income generation

Cost own fundraising efforts 6  114,609  72,000  71,626 

Costs securing government subsidies 7  81,220  144,863  153,315 

 195,830  216,863  224,941 

Expenditure management & administration 7  624,655  647,525  632,142 

 18,314,573  21,708,363  20,601,785 

Income institutional donors 10  18,038,777  21,070,728  19.990,410 

Income fundraising 11

Donations and gifts  2,121,111  441,000  101,168 

Local project income  39,794  4,500  4,745 

Subsidies from non-governmental 
organizations

 249,769  350,000  355,110 

 2,410,674  795,500  461,023 

Income third-party campaigns 12  64,551  150,000  151,478 

 20,514,002  22,016,229  20,602,911 

Other results 13  15,961                    -   19,202 

Result  2,215,391  307,865  20,328 

Percentage expenditure on objectives vs total income 85,3% 94,7 % 95,8%

Percentage expenditure on objectives vs total expenditure 95,5% 96,0% 95,8%

6.1 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2015
1 PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT FOR THE YEAR 2015
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(In euros) Note December 31 
2015

December 31 
2014

Intangible fixed assets 14  6,322  50,225 

Tangible fixed assets 15  4,897  6,324 

Receivables and accrued income

Work in progress 22  2,731,767  1,198,860 

Receivables 16  185,565  250,247 

Cash and bank 17  1,809,663  2,228,971 

 4,738,214  3,734,627 

Reserves 19  206,809  (2,008,581)

Provisions 20  123,940  98,629 

Short-term liabilities

Project balance 22  2,998,676  2,266,877 

Other short-term liabilities 23  1,408,788  3,377,703 

 4,738,214  3,734,627 

2 BALANCE SHEET FOR YEAR ENDING 31 DECEMBER 2015
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2015 2014

(In euros) Project 
countries

Netherlands Total Project  
countries

Netherlands Total            

Balance on 1 January  1,692,862  536,109  2.228,971  2,670,365  751,635  3,422,000 

Donor installments current projects  7,088,898  10,851,938  17,940,836  9,898,409  12,546,030  22,444,439 

Repaid unspend subsidies to donor  (4,513)  (30,518)  (35,031)  -  -    -   

Received final payments closed projects  -  -    -    -  732,340  732,340 

Donations  (597)  2,013,000  2,012,403  (654)  102,271  101,617 

Other income  66,458  1,350  67,808  21,738  -    21,738 

 7,150,247  12,835,770  19,986,016  9,919,494  13,380,640  23,300,134 

Transfers to the project countries  8,724,100  (8,724,100)  -  5,950,656  (5,950,656)  -   

Expenditures on objectives in the field offices  (17,204,032)  (17,204,032)  (16,847,653)  (16,847,653)

Project expenses paid from the Netherlands  (1,159,449)  (1,159,449) 0  (5,655,366)  (5,655,366)

Expenditure on overhead in the Netherlands  (2,041,844)  (2,041,844)  -  (1,990,145)  (1,990,145)

Balance on 31 December  363,177  1,446,486  1,809,663  1,692,862  536,109  2,228,971 

The project expenditures paid from the Netherlands 
are unusually high in 2014. This is caused by a 
payment of €4.4 million to the vendor Vestergaard 
for bed nets in Afghanistan. All communication with 
this vendor was done by headquarters in Amsterdam 
and for a better control of this purchase the donor 
money was sent to the Netherlands instead of 
Afghanistan. In 2015 no exceptional payments like 
this occurred.

3 CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
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6.2 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MANAGEMENT AND ADMINISTRATION 
COSTS
This represents expenditure on managing the 
organization. These costs are calculated based on 
the guidance of the RJ650. Included are the direct 
costs of the departments human resources and 
administration, and 50% of the director’s office. The 
costs of the operational department are considered 
to be administrative expenses for 20%. Other costs 
are allocated on a pro rata basis based on the 
allocation of the direct costs.

INCOME FROM THIRD PARTY ACTIVITIES
Income from third party activities relates to the 
activities for which the foundation bears no risk.  
This income is accounted for in the year that the 
proceeds are received and/or allocated by the  
third party.

CASH FLOW STATEMENT
The consolidated cash flow statement was drafted 
using the direct method. 

ASSETS
The assets shown on the balance sheet are all held 
for the purpose of the activities of the organization.

FOREIGN CURRENCIES
Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are 
translated into Euros at the monthly exchange rate 
of the European Central Bank (ECB) prevailing on  
the transaction date. At the end of the financial year, 
all assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are 
translated into Euros at the exchange rate of the 
ECB on the balance sheet date. The resulting 
exchange rate gains/losses are included in the 
statement of income and expenditure.

ORGANIZATIONAL COST
The administrative cost of fundraising, awareness 
raising and public information, and those of 
reconstruction and development are calculated 
based upon the relevant number of fulltime 
employees at the head office directly employed  
for these activities. The other, non-direct staff cost 
are allocated in proportion to these direct cost. 
Depreciation cost and interest expenses have  
been included.

COST OWN FUNDRAISING EFFORTS
The costs own fundraising efforts include the  
direct fundraising expenses and allocated 
organization cost. 

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
The annual report has been prepared in accordance 
with the ‘Guideline 650 for Fundraising Institutions’, 
as published by the Dutch Council for Annual Reporting 
published in January 2012. The purpose of this 
guideline is to provide information about the costs  
of the organization and the expenditure of funds to 
further the objects for which the funds were 
acquired. The projects are the main purpose of 
HealthNet. For this reason HealthNet has deviated 
from the prescribed model. In the profit and loss 
account the expenditure is presented before the 
income. The financial year coincides with the 
calendar year.

Unless stated otherwise, items in the balance sheet 
are shown at nominal value and income and 
expenditures are attributed to the relevant year. 
Expenses in the program countries are recognized 
on a cash basis.

GOING CONCERN BASIS
The financial statements have been prepared on  
the basis of going concern. HealthNet had a negative 
equity at year-end 2014 but the year-end 2015 
equity is positive again. The supervisory board and 
the directors are confident that HealthNet will 
continue its operations. 
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INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS
The intangible fixed assets are stated at cost less 
depreciation. Depreciation is calculated at fixed 
percentages of the cost based upon the useful life. 
The following rates of depreciation are used:
ERP system   20.0% per annum
Computer software  33.3% per annum

TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS
The tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less 
depreciation. Depreciation is calculated at fixed 
percentages of the cost based upon the useful life. 
The following rates of depreciation are used:
Office furniture  14.3% per annum
Office equipment  20.0% per annum
Computer hardware  33.3% per annum

DEBTORS
Debtors are shown at face value. If necessary, a 
provision for bad and doubtful debts is deducted.

RESERVES AND FUNDS   
The organization’s reserves are used for its 
objectives. The organization was set up to spend 
funds in accordance with their designated purpose.

PROJECT BALANCE AND WORK IN 
PROGRESS
The project balance is presented according the  
work in progress method. The balance for each 
project is determined on realized income based on 
the progress of projects and received instalments/
reimbursements up to balance sheet date.  
In determining the realized project income losses 
due to budget overruns, ineligible costs or unsecured 
co-funding obligations are taken into account.
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(In euros) Afghan istan Burundi DRC South 
Sudan

Other  
countries

 Total  
2015 

 Budget 
2015 

 Actuals 
2014 

Actuals 2015

Expat staff  10,191 0%  14,061 1%  334 0%  548,001 11%  118,136 12%  690,723 4%  595,722   3%  562,765 3%

HQ staff  113,175 1%  177,207 7%  16,318 5%  104,444 2%  297,093 30%  708,236 4%  806,791 4%  974,576 5%

Local staff  4,345,772 52%  822,433 31%  38,796 13% 1,645,740 32%  166,814 17%  7,019,555 40% 7,185,843 35%  6,788,300 35%

Field office costs  409,515 5%  194,136 7%  18,767 6%  605,002 12%  61,763 6%  1,289,184 7% 1,566,161 8%  1,479,516 8%

Transportation  435,794 5%  289,776 11%  68,348 23%  611,649 12%  38,437 4%  1,444,003 8% 1,699,310 8%  1,605,299 8%

Training and education  149,151 2% 1,089,791 41%  87,798 29%  540,639 11%  111,458 11%  1,978,837 11% 1,672,881 8%  1,580,332 8%

Medical and other 
goods

 1,731,464 21%  23 0%  3,396 1%  877,027 17%  79,700 8%  2,691,610 15% 3,782,782 18%  3,468,181 18%

Consultancies  -   0%  71,870 3%  24,372 8%  5,749 0%  128,615 13%  230,606 1% 197,936 1%  186,986 1%

Local partners  1,169,093 14%  (25,597) -1%  44,341 15%  178,667 3%  -   0%  1,366,504 8% 3,028,947 15%  2,861,376 15%

 8,364,154 2.633.700 302,470 5,116,919 1,002,015 17,419,257 20,536,374 19,507,331 

Local income  (23,403)  (3,262)  -    -    (1,350)  (28,015) -  (17,442)

Total expenditures  8,340,751 2.630.438 302,470 5,116,919 1,000,665  17,391,243 20,536,374 19,489,889 

 Allocated organizational costs (Note 7)  163,392 10,000  5,961 

 Exchange rate and post project results (Note 8)  (242,271) 102,102  61,193

    17,312,364 20,648,475 19,557,043 

4 RECONSTRUCTION AND DEVELOPMENT

6.3 NOTES TO THE PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT

EXPENDITURE
The expenditures on objectives are divided into  
two groups, expenditure on (1) Reconstruction 
and Development, and (2) Awareness Raising and 
Public Information. The total expenditures in 2015 
amounted €18,3 million, of which €17,5 million 
(95.6%) was directly spend on achieving the 

objectives. The policy of HealthNet is to spend at 
least 90% of the total expenditure directly on the 
objectives. The percentage of expenditures is in 
line with the budget. The biggest share of 
expenditure on objectives is for local staff cost. 
Most of the work is done by HealthNet’s own staff.
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(In euros)  Actuals 2015  Budget 2015 Actuals 2014

Website  110,296  102,000  90,700 

Seminar  -    -   

Other activities  3,146  18,500  25,958

 113,442  120,500  116,659 

Allocated organizational costs (Note 7)  68,282  75,000  71,000 

 181,725  195,500  187,659 

(In euros)  Actuals 2015  Budget 2015 Actuals 2014

Advertisement  5,270  5,000  26,026 

Other fundraising cost  14,017  7,000  24,300 

 19,287  12,000  50,326 

Allocated organizational costs (Note 7)  95,322  60,000  21,300 

 114,609  72,000  71,626 

Cost percentage own fundraising efforts 4,8% 9,1% 15,5%

5 AWARENESS RAISING AND PUBLIC INFORMATION

6 COST OWN FUNDRAISING EFFORTS
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Expenditures  Recon struc-
tion and 

development 

 Aware ness 
raising and 

public 
infor mation 

 Total 
expenditure 

on objectives 

 Own 
fundraising 

efforts 

 Securing 
government 

subsidies 

Manage ment 
& admini-

stration 

 Actual  
2015 

 Budget     
2015 

 Actual            
2014 

Average number FTEs  7.8  0.7  8.5  1,0  1.2  7.0  17.6  20,5  22,1 

Personnel costs  615,595  61,253  676,849  85,510  98,725  595,480  1,456,563  1,463,706  1,533,141 

Accommodation costs  60,352  5,352  65,704  7,471  9,153  54,471  136,799  144,534  115,422 

Office and general costs  28,057  3,159  31,216  4,410  6,856  55,703  98,185  105,967  105,670 

Depreciation and interest  19,974  1,868  21,842  2,607  2,916  16,164  43,529  47,440  101,579 

 723,978  71,632  795,610  99,998  117,650  721,818  1,735,077  1,761,647  1,855,812 

Recovered organizational costs  (560,586)  (3,350)  (563,936)  (4,676)  (36,430)  (103,194)  (708,236)  (806,791)  (974,576)

 163,392  68,282  231,675  95,322  81,220  618,624  1,026,841  954,856  881,236 

Subsidies and contribution  17,176,986  113,442  17.290,428  19,287  -    6,031  17,315,746 20,795,976 19,737,991 

Locale income  (28,015)  (28,015)  (28,015)  (17,442)

  17,312,364  181,725  17,494,088  114,609  81,220  624,655  18,314,573 21,750,832 20,601,785 

0.7% 0.5% 3.6%

   
 Note: Coverage of indirect costs  1,071,144  1,216,389  1,146,780 

In % of total organizational costs (incl. subsidies and contribution for Management & administration) 84% 115% 121%

7 ALLOCATION OF ORGANIZATIONAL COST

Costs securing government subsidies 
The costs for securing government subsidies 
consist entirely of allocated organizational cost. 
Within HealthNet, one employee (0,8 FTE) is fully 
engaged in securing government subsidies and 
four others part time.

Management and Administration 
The costs for Management and Administration 
consist entirely of allocated organizational cost. 
Staff of the departments finance, operational 
support, technical support and the directors  
spend a percentage of their time on Management 

and Administration. The average number 
of FTE’s assigned for Management and 
Administration has continuously 
decreased past years from13.5 FTE  
in 2012, 8.8 FTE in 2013, 7.9 FTE in 2014 
and 7,0 in 2015..  
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8 EXCHANGE RATE AND POST PROJECT RESULTS, COMMUNICATION EXPENSES

(In euros) Afghan istan Burundi DRC South 
Sudan

Other  
countries

 Total 
2015 

 Budget 
2015 

Actuals 
2014 

Actuals 2015

Exchange Rate  47,470  (10,680)  (11,290)  133,880  3,049  162,429  -    (8,521)

Post-project results  75,882  (34,118)  (784)  49,669  (10,805)  79,843  102,102  69,715 

 123,352  (44,799)  (12,075)  183,549  (7,756)  242,271  102,102  61,193 

Communication expenses  -    -    -    -    6,031  6,031  -    2,482 

 123,352  (44,799)  (12,075)  183,549  (1,725)  248,302  102,102  63,675 
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(In euros)  Actuals 2015  Budget 2015 Actuals 2014

Salary  cost

Gross salaries 1,095,320 1,107,753 1,156,905

Social security 148,277 165,494 144,135

Pension 167,959 136,955 183,132

Other personnel costs 45,008 53,504 48,969

1,456,563 1,463,706 1,533,141

Average number of FTE's  17.6  18.1  19.0 

Accommondation cost    

Rent 92,115 103,834 78,153

Service charges and move 37,689 35,000 30,785

Office maintenance 6,996 5,700 6,484

136,799 144,534 115,422

Office and General cost

Automation/Telecom support & supplies 23,092 28,850 27,317

Office cost 6,929 9,555 7,238

Insurrance 2,811 5,850 4,271

Bank charges 1,261 550 5,799

Consultancy 11,455 7,370 11,514

Audit fees 42,753 33,600 39,818

Other general cost 9,884 20,191 9,715

98,185 105,967 105,670

Depreciation and interest

Depreciation 47,617 47,440 104,379

Intrest expense -4,088 0 -2,800

43,529 47,440 101,579

Total Headoffice Cost 1,735,077 1,761,647 1,855,812

9 EXPENDITURE HEADQUARTER

Due to a change of pension fund the pension cost 
decreased compared to 2014. However not as 
much as initially expected when preparing the 
2015 budget. Actual 2015 pension cost are above 
budget because the actual obliged calculation 
rates were slightly different from the rates when 
preparing the budget. Total salary cost are below 
budget because of less fte’s employed.

Rental cost are less than budgeted because the 
revenues from sub renting part of the office were 
higher than expected. Audit cost 2015 are above 
budget because the field audit costs for Burundi 
were higher than originally budgeted in 2010.     
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10 INCOME INSTITUTIONAL DONORS

The main deviation between the budgeted income 
from institutional donors 2015 and the actual 
income is caused by lower income from  
Afghanistan projects. Expected projects for the 
SEHAT program (System Enhancement for Health 
Action in Transition) were eventually not acquired. 
This decrease of income in Afghanistan was partly 
compensated by an extension of the Global Fund 
project in Afghanistan. 

(In euros)  Actuals 2015  Budget 2015 Actuals 2014

Afghan Ministry of Health  3,040,278  5,590,000  2,507,323 

Dutch Ministry of Foreign Affairs  5,968,777  6,040,000  4,311,849 

European Commission  35,973  35,000  (22,341)

Gavi  -    483,887 

Global Fund  1,187,497  778,000  2,526,451 

Health Pooled Fund  2,543,854  2,900,000  2,619,992 

USAID  2,473,698  3,190,000  4,932,381 

United Nations organizations  382,364  200,000  395,018 

WHO  784,400  982,000  999,903 

World Bank  97,563  104,000  67,828 

Overige overheden  453,228  35,339  21,338 

 16,967,633  19,854,339  18,843,629 

Coverage for organizational cost  1,071,144  1,216,389  1,146,780 

Total institutional subsidies  18,038,777  21,070,728  19,990,410 

INCOME

The income of HealthNet comes from subsidies  
from governments and non-government, third-party 
campaigns and fundraising. 

Subsidies that the donor allocated depending on 
project costs will be accounted for in the statement 
of income and expenditure in the year that the 
subsidized expenditure took place. In this context, 
the expenditures by alliance partners, where 
HealthNet is lead agency, is equal to the amounts 
paid to these partners. 

Differences in allocated and actual income from 
subsidies are accounted for in the statement of 
income and expenditure in the year in which these 
differences can be reliably estimated.
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11 INCOME FROM FUNDRAISING

In 2015 HealthNet received financially support  
from a third party. This party donated € 2 mln  
and will continue its support in 2016.

(In euros)  Actuals 2015  Budget 2015 Actuals 2014

Donations

Donations and gifts  2,121,111  441,000  101,168 

Donations with designated purpose  -    -  - 

 2,121,111  441,000  101,168 

Local project income  39,794  4,500  4,745 

Subsidies from non-governmental 
organizations

Achmea  248,869  350,000  274,801 

LSHTM   -    2,921 

Other donors  900  -    77,387 

 249,769  350,000  355,110 

 2,410,674  795,500  461,023 
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12 INCOME FROM THIRD PARTY CAMPAIGNS

13 OTHER RESULTS

(In euros)  Actuals 2015  Budget 2015 Actuals 2014

Cordaid  64,551  150,000  151,478 

 64,551  150,000  151,478 

(In euros)  Actuals 2015  Budget 2015 Actuals 2014

Exchange rate gains/(losses)  15,961  -    17,321 

Other results  -    -    1,881 

 15,961  -    19,202 
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6.4 NOTES TO THE BALANCE SHEET 2015
14 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

In 2009 HealthNet invested in the implementation 
and development of a new financial system, which  
is used as of 2010. In 2010 and the first months of 
2011 an extra investment was done for this  
financial system. In the years after 2011 no further 
investments were done. Depreciation cost for this 
system ended in the cause of 2015. 

(In euros)  Actuals 2015  Budget 2015 Actuals 2014

Purchase value

Balance on 1 January  19,558  500,097  519,655 

Investments 2015   -  - 

Desinvestments 2015  -    -  - 

 19,558  500,097  519,655 

Depreciation    

Balance on 1 January  19,558  449,872  469,430 

Depreciation 2015  -    43,902  43,902 

 19,558  493,775  513,332 

Balance 31 December  -    6,322  6,322 
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15 TANGIBLE ASSETS

(In euros)  Furniture  Office 
machines 

 Computers  Total 

Purchase value

Balance on 1 January  61,382  83,313  75,212  219,907 

Investments 2015  -    -  2,287  2,287 

Desinvestments 2015  -    -  -  - 

 61,382  83,313  77,499  222,194 

Depreciation    

Balance on 1 January  58,425  83,175  71,983  213,583 

Depreciation 2015  1,375  122  2,217  3,714 

Desinvestments 2015  -    -  -  - 

 59,801  83,297  74,200  217,298 

Balance 31 December  1,582  15  3,299  4,897 
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16 RECEIVABLES

Donor receivables for final settlement
This includes the final instalments/reimbursement 
by donors for completed projects. 

Pre-paid expenses
This includes the deposits and pre-paid expenses  
at headquarters and in the field offices.

Prepayments to sub-contractors
For a number of projects HealthNet works with 
sub-contractors. Some of the sub-contractors  
are pre financed by HealthNet. Only when the 
sub-contractor reports the actual expenses can 
HealthNet book these expenses and charge them  
to the corresponding donor. When HealthNet is not 
pre-financing the sub-contractors, but reimburses 
the sub-contractor afterwards, the commitment is 
presented as short-term liability.

Accrued assets
This includes the balance advances that are given  
to HealthNet staff to carry out activities in the field. 
HealthNet carries out projects in areas where the 
(financial) infrastructure is lacking. To be able to do 
all the activities in these areas cash advances are 
given to HealthNet staff. These advances are 
accounted for within one month.

(In euros)  Actual 2015  Actual 2014

Debtors  117,196  31,715 

VAT receivable  17,227  

Donor receivables for final settlement  16,053  17,796 

Provision donor receivables  (50,000)  -   

Prepaid expenses  68,007  74,028 

Prepayments to subcontractors  5,897  101,005 

Accrued assets  11,186  25,704 

 185,565  250,247 
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17 CASH AND BANK

In December 2015 the Amsterdam office received an 
instalment from the EC for €1mln for a project that 
started in January 2016 in Afghanistan. All the funds 
are repayable on demand except for a bank 
guarantee of € 43,785 - for rental obligations.

(in euros)  Actual 2015  Actual 2014

Cash at bank and in hand in Amsterdam  1,446,486  536,109 

Cash at bank and in hand in project countries  363,177  1,692,862 

 1,809,663  2,228,971 

18 CASH AND BANK PER COUNTRY

(in euros)  Actual 2015  Actual 2014

Afghanistan  146,770  1,496,966 

Burundi  18,605  16,697 

DRC  0  20,504 

South Sudan  197,801  158,694 

Irak  (0)  -   

 363,177  1,692,862 
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RESERVES

Like in the years 2013 and 2014 also the 2015 result 
from normal operations was positive again. The end  
of 2014 negative equity was however too big to restore 
form normal operational results. That the end of 2015 
reserves are positive again is due to the financial 
support from a third party who donated € 2 mln.
For 2016 new activities are planned for more financial 
support from third parties. 
Because some projects need to be pre financed  
by HealthNet we are negotiating credit facilities.  
The positive equity by end of 2015 will ease the 
search for a suitable credit facility. 

(In euros)  Actual 2015  Actual 2014

Reserves

Balance 1 January  (2,008,581)  (2,028,909)

Result current year  2,215,391  20,328 

 206,809  (2,008,581)

Designated reserve

Balance 1 January  -    -   

Restricted reserve  -    -   

 -    -   

Total reserves

Balance 1 January  (2,008,581)  (2,028,909)

Result current year  2,215,391  20,328 

 206,809  (2,008,581)
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19 PROVISIONS

(In euros)  Actual 2015  Actual 2014

Balance 1 January  98,629  104,978 

Allocation  43,594  51,084 

Withdrawal  (18,282)  (30,425)

Release  -    (27,009)

 123,940  98,629 

Projects of HealthNet are regularly audited after the 
project has been finished and the financial report 
has been submitted. These project audits can take 
place until five years after a project has finished. 
Based on results of the project audits in the past,  
it was decided to form a provision of 0.25% on the 
yearly income out of government subsidies. 
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20 CONDUCT PROJECT BALANCE 

(In euros)  Actual 2015  Actual 2014

Balance on 1 January  (1,037,592)  1,187,034 

Received subsidies  (17,729,338)  (22,913,601)

Subsidies spent  18,437,664  20,778,794 

Subsidies to be refunded to donor  62,358  (89,820)

 (266,909)  (1,037,592)
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21 SPECIFICATION PROJECT BALANCE PER DONOR

The table below includes the balance of all running 
projects. This balance is determined on realized 
income based on the progress of projects and 
received instalments/reimbursements up to balance 
sheet date. In determining the realized project 
income losses due to budget overruns, ineligible 
costs or unsecured co-funding obligations are taken 
into account.

Based on the project progress and received 
instalments HealthNet can have a receivable from  
or payable to a donor. In the specification project 
balance per donor the individual position for each 
donor is explained. HealthNet receives the majority 
of its project funding in advance.

2015 2014

(In euros)  To be received 
from donor 

Unspent project 
subsidies 

 To be received 
from donor 

 Unspent project 
subsidies 

Achmea  14,160  (2,327)  120,384  (49,533)

Afghan Ministry of Health  336,566  (414,593)  0  (662,167)

BSF  -    (0)  463,576  (0)

Cordaid  0  (4,518)  0  (69,069)

Dutch Ministry of Foreign Affairs  442,051  (13,590)  181,031  (854,193)

European Commission  32,178  (1,017,320)  0  (10,731)

GAVI  0  (0)  2,698  (11,036)

Global Fund  543,180  (492,123)  141,784  (0)

United Nations organizations  555,795  (639,682)  134,573  (312,782)

USAID  243,302  (201,111)  136,492  (151,372)

World Bank  122,645  (143,879)  7,519  (0)

Health Pooled Fund  429,791  -     

Other donors  12,099  (18,873)  10,804  (2,551)

Subsidies to be refunded  -    (50,660)  -  (143,442)

 2,731,767  (2,998,676)  1,198,860  (2,266,877)

-266,909 -1,068,017
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22 SHORT-TERM LIABILITIES

Accrued personnel cost headquarter
This includes the salary and insurance commitments 
for staff at headquarters per December 31st 2015.

Accrued tax and social security headquarter
This includes the tax payables and social security, 
per December 31st 2015, for the staff at 
headquarters.

Accrued personnel cost in project countries
This includes the salary and tax commitments for 
staff at field offices per December 31st 2015 in 
Afghanistan, Burundi and Sudan.   

Accrued social security project countries 
This includes reservations for paying social security 
and ‘end of contract payments’ in South Sudan and 
Burundi.

Accrued sub-contractors
These are commitments to local partners for 
services they have provided. Main part of this 
amount is related to subcontractors in Afghanistan. 
The remaining small part is for subcontractors in 
South Sudan.

Accrued other cost in project countries
This includes all, non-salary related, project 
commitments in the project countries.  
These commitments include received invoices and 
made commitments for medicine, constructions of 
health facilities, fuel and other contracts. 

Rights not included in the balance sheet:
As of March 1, 2013, HealthNet had sublet part  
of her office to Powersellers BV. The revenue from 
this rental agreement amounted €64.300 in 2014. 
This subtenant has terminated the agreement by 
May 2015. However, a new subtenant for this part  
of the office has been found (Zoombim) and the  
new contract started as of August 2015 bringing a 
monthly income of €5.500. The contract is for one 
year with a tacit renewal and a notice period of  
one month. 
As of February 2014, another small part of the office 
has been sublet to Stichting Antares for the period 
of one year with a tacit renewal and a notice period 
of one month. The monthly income from this 
agreement amounts €595.

Liabilities not included in the balance sheet
• The rental agreement for the office in 

Amsterdam, which runs from 01/16/2012 until 
01/15/2019, has a total commitment €1.167.447. 
This requires a bank guarantee of €43.785.  
For 2015 the total rental cost including service 
charges amounted €181.500. 

• As of October 2011 HealthNet has signed a 
lease with Canon Business Center for three 
printers. This agreement runs until May 2016. 
HealthNet pays €1.811 per 3 months for using 
the printers.  

• For the Emerald project HealthNet is paying a 
contribution. The Emerald project is funded by 
the EC, but the EC will reimburse 75% of the 

expenses. The Emerald project started in 
November 2012 and will end in November 2017. 
The maximum contribution of HealthNet for 
2013 until 2017 will be €53.660. For 2015 this 
contribution is €15.000.      
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22 SHORT-TERM LIABILITIES

(In euros)  Actual 2015  Actual 2014

Creditors  26,837  186,241 

Invoices to be received  123,784  65,979 

Provision holiday allowance and holiday hours  103,080  109,186 

Accrued personnel costs headquarters  30,777  9,733 

Accrued tax and social security headquarters  42,597  48,725 

Accrued personnel costs in project countries  50,784  539,167 

Accrued social security project countries  518,052  515,024 

Accrued subcontractors  64,275  452,688 

Accrued other cost in project countries  448,602  1,450,960 

 1,408,788  3,377,704 
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6.5 BUDGET 2016
23 BUDGET 2016 (In euros)  Budget 2016  Actual 2015

Expenditure on objectives

Reconstruction and Development  13,500,000  17,312,364 

Awareness Raising and Public Information  190,000  181,725 

 13,690,000  17,494,088 

Expenditure income generation

Costs own fundraising efforts  115,000  114,609 

Costs securing government subsidies  85,000  81,220 

 200,000  195,830 

Expenditure management & administration  1,025,000  624,655 

 14,915,000  18,314,573 

Income institutional donors  13,854,000  18,038,777 

Income fundraising

Donations and gifts  1,000,000  2,121,111 

Local project income  5,579  39,794 

Subsidies from non-governmental organizations  150,000  249,769 

 1,155,579  2,410,674 

Income third-party campaigns  50,000  64,551 

 15,059,579  20,514,002 

Other results

Exchange rate gains/(losses)  -    15,961 

Other results  -    -   

 -    15,961 

 144,579  2,215,391 

Percentage expenditure on objectives vs total income 90.9% 85.3%
Percentage expenditure on objectives vs total expenditure 91.8% 95.5%
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6.6 OTHER INFORMATION
24 EXPENDITURE ON OBJECTIVES PER REGION

(In euros) Budget 2016 Actual 2015 Actuals 2014

Asia 57% 50% 60%

Africa 41% 46% 38%

Europe 2% 4% 3%
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25 STAFF OVERVIEW

(In euros) Budget 2016 Actual 2015 Actuals 2014

Staff at Amsterdam office

1 January  18.2  15.7  20.5 

31 December  20.0  18.2  15.7 

Number of volunteers during the year  10  10  10 

Average number of staff at headquarters 19.6 17.5 18.8 

Personnel cost per FTE at headquarters (euro)  82,793  83,292  81,442 

Other cost per FTE at headquarters(euro)  12,040  15,926  17,141 

Hourly rate staff Amsterdam office (budget 
only, euro)

 92.00 

Field staff per 31 December

Afghanistan - Local staff  1,000  1,199.7  1,585 

Afghanistan - Expat staff

Burundi - Local staff  60  110  109 

Burundi - Expat staff  -    -   

Congo - Local staff  -    2.0  2 

Congo - Expat staff  -    -    -   

South Sudan - Local staff  11.3  57.6  46 

South Sudan - Expat staff  1.5  7.0  6 

 1,073  1,376  1,748 
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SUPERVISORY BOARD AND THE DIRECTORS

The members of the supervisory board are not 
employed by the organization. The members of the 
supervisory board and former members of the 
supervisory board did not receive any remuneration 
during the financial year. No loans or advances were 
made and no guarantees were issued to the members 
of the supervisory board.

The supervisory board has determined the 
remuneration policy, the height of the executive 

(In euros)   2015   2014

Hans Grootendorst, Internal Director 

Gross wage/salary  103,089  102,576 

Holiday bonus  8,223  8,206 

Social security - employer's part  9,449  9,343 

Pension  18,810  25,457 

 139,571  145,582 

Willem van de Put, External Director 

Gross wage/salary  103,089  102,576 

Holiday bonus  8,223  8,206 

Social security - employer's part  9,453  9,343 

Pension  21,978  9,101 

 142,743  128,192 

26 REMUNERATION DIRECTORS

benefit and the amount of remuneration components. 
The remuneration policy is updated periodically.

The directors consist of a director of internal  
affairs and a director of external affairs. Both their 
employment contracts are for an indefinite period and 
for a full time position based on a 40-hour workweek. 
HealthNet has no bonuses, year-end bonuses or 
gratuities. Costs are refunded on an expense claim 
basis and fixed cost allowance.
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